

HANDBOOK FOR VOLUNTEERS

308 W. 4th Street Bloomington, IN 47404

Volunteer@wonderlab.org

(812) 337-1337

www.wonderlab.org

Updated Nov. 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

WonderLab's Mission 2			
WonderLab: Past and Present 2			
Volunteering at WonderLab			
Working as Part of a Team			
Working with Visitors3			
Volunteering Responsibilities 4			
Interacting with Preschool Visitors5			
Interacting with People with Disabilities5			
Other Volunteer Opportunities 6			
Scheduling and Attendance 6			
Signing up to Volunteer			
Checking In and Out			
Standards of Behavior and Appearance 8			
Volunteer Benefits 8			
Museum Rules 9			
	cedures		
Appendix A: l	Useful Information	10	
Appendix B: J	Job Description for Discovery Coach	13	
Appendix C: \	WonderLab's Customer Service Values	14	
Appendix D: N	Nonverbal Communication	15	
Appendix E: (Guidelines for Messing Around with Science	17	
Appendix F: (Guidelines for Working with People with Disabilities	18	
Appendix G:	Standards of Behavior	19	

WonderLab's Mission

WonderLab's mission is to provide opportunities for people of all ages, especially children, to experience the wonder and excitement of science through hands-on exhibits, and programs that stimulate curiosity, encourage exploration, foster lifelong learning, and explore the connections to the arts and everyday life. WonderLab strives to build curious and creative problem solvers inspired by wonder, who will shape a better future for southern Indiana and beyond.

WonderLab: Past and Present

WonderLab began in 1995 as a traveling outreach program of dedicated volunteers who brought handson science activities to schools and other organizations.

On January 10, 1998, WonderLab opened a small, interim museum on the north side of the Bloomington courthouse square. At the same time, fundraising began to build a permanent museum on the present site, which the City of Bloomington had donated the previous year for this purpose.

On March 18, 2002, WonderLab began construction of the new museum, near the corner of 4th and Madison streets. On December 28, 2002, the interim museum closed, and staff moved to the new museum to prepare it for opening. Volunteers helped with moving and unpacking, worked on exhibits, participated in focus groups, helped at previews, set up our computer systems, and helped with mass mailings. On Saturday, March 29, 2003, the new museum had its long-awaited grand opening.

WonderLab remains a grassroots organization staffed by many individuals who nurtured it from its beginnings and supported by nearly 700-900 volunteers each year. These dedicated people donate their time and expertise to WonderLab by working with visitors at the museum and outreach events, serving on the board of directors, providing legal, computer, graphic design, and other services, helping with fundraising, and presenting special programs. In short, without volunteers, WonderLab as we know it simply would not exist.

The museum is 15,000 square feet, with 6,500 square feet devoted to exhibits. The second-floor features three learning labs for programs, birthday parties, demonstrations and more. See Appendix A for more information about WonderLab.

Museum Hours

Tuesday - Saturday: 9:00 am - 5:00 pm

Sunday: 1:00 pm - 5:00 pm

Closed most Mondays, January 1, Thanksgiving Day,

and December 25

Admission

MembersFreeChild under 12 monthsFreeOver 1 year\$14.00Access Pass\$2.00

Volunteering at WonderLab

Volunteers are vital to WonderLab. You will be part of a team whose goal is to work together to make sure every visitor has a positive experience at the museum and wants to come back to WonderLab again and again.

Working as Part of a Team

You are part of a team that includes other volunteers, museum experience members, visitor service members, and a floor manager. The floor manager, who is your supervisor, oversees the entire museum. They will be wearing a blue WonderLab apron. The floor manager assigns volunteers to a floor in the museum and in some cases, to an area or specific exhibit.

The floor manager will check in with you as soon as possible. (Sometimes the floor manager will be doing a demonstration when your shift begins.) The floor manager will give you any needed information about the day and training or instructions. For example, you may be asked to train the volunteer who is taking your place or to help clean up. The floor manager may ask you to switch to another floor during your shift. Otherwise, assist guests, and help to tidy the museum floor.

- > If you have questions about an exhibit, if you need more materials for an activity, if some of the equipment is not working well, or if a visitor has a question or problem you cannot handle, go to the floor manager.
- > If you need to take a short break or move your car, please communicate with the floor manager.
- ➤ If you have problems/questions/concerns or terrific ideas/comments, bring these to any of our staff. Your opinions are essential in making the museum run well.

Working with Visitors

The first step in volunteering at WonderLab is to work with visitors in the museum. At WonderLab, the visitors are our customers. They expect a safe, clean, and welcoming environment, exhibits that are working well and are engaging, and friendly and helpful staff. **We ask all our staff and volunteers to meet and then to exceed these expectations.**

WonderLab's customer service values in order of priority are:

- 1. Safety
- 2. Courtesy
- 3. Playful Discovery

Appendix C has more information about customer service.

Volunteering Responsibilities

You do not need to know a lot about science to be a great WonderLab volunteer. All you need is a curiosity about science, a positive attitude, an interest in learning, and a willingness to work with people. You will have many opportunities for on-the-job training.

- Watch for unsafe situations and alert the staff to them immediately. You are extra "eyes and ears" in the museum (see page 9).
- Act as host. Know the location of rest rooms, elevators, learning labs, informational brochures, etc. Learn about WonderLab's history, attendance, and programs. Direct questions you cannot answer to the floor manager, volunteer department, or visitor services staff.
- ➤ Be welcoming, friendly, attentive, and approachable. Talk to visitors. For example, simply say "Hello" or "Welcome to WonderLab." See Appendix D for tips on looking approachable and ready to help visitors.
- Keep the exhibit areas tidy and inviting. Pay attention to see that everything is working properly. Inform the floor manager of any problems. Pick up items from the floor (e.g., parachutes, scarves, blocks). If your shift is over at the end of the day, please help clean the museum (e.g., pick up items from the floor, put things away, help sanitize, etc.)
- > Be a role model. Explore and play with the exhibits so that it sends out the signal "Hey, try this! Wow! Look at this!"
- Encourage visitors to get involved with the exhibits and activities. For example, if you are working a construction table, invite a child to join you. Encourage visitors to explore less obvious exhibits (e.g., light table, magnetic wall). See Appendix E for WonderLab's guidelines for "messing around with science."
- Ask questions. "What would happen if...?" "What did you just try...?"" What do you think is going on...?"
- ▶ Be a good listener. Try to figure out what is being asked. Answers such as, "That is a great question," or "I don't know, let's see if we can figure it out," are great responses. Let visitors share their discoveries with you. For example, ask, "What do you think is going on here?"
- ➤ Learn about the exhibits on your own. Read the signs! Watch others use the exhibits and get ideas from them. During slow times, explore the exhibits. Dig deeper and come up with challenges for yourself. Remember, we do not expect you to have all the answers.
- > Build on your experiences. Read the articles in Appendix F.
- > As needed, help train your replacement. You may need to train a volunteer who will be taking your place and make sure that the exhibit or activity you were supervising is working normally and has sufficient materials for the rest of the day.

Interacting with Preschool Visitors

WonderLab's youngest visitors may come in with a group (e.g., a daycare) or with a caregiver. They may stay in Science Sprouts Place, which is specifically designed for preschoolers, or they may be anywhere in the museum. These children are beginning scientists who are exploring and learning through play.

- Get down to their level. You may need to squat or sit to be eye-to-eye with young children. Eye
 contact improves communication plus is less intimidating. In the eyes of a child, you may be a
 giant.
- Tell children what to do rather than what not to do. For example say "Use slow feet, please" instead of saying "No running."
- The fewer words, the better! Young children often hear only the end of what you say, so stating clear guidelines is essential. For example, "Blocks are for building" rather than "Don't throw the blocks."
- Often, a simple declarative statement, "These blocks are fun," or "Here are some blocks," is more inviting than questioning, "Would you like to play with some blocks?"
- Some children will respond to a verbal invitation but will not begin using the materials until the "stranger," (i.e., you) moves away. Watch the child for nonverbal cues!
- Provide words for what the child observes or does. For example, "You are balancing that one on top" or "These blocks are beginning to wobble."

Interacting with People with Disabilities

Occasionally, as a volunteer, you will encounter visitors or other volunteers who have disabilities. These disabilities could be physical, such as mobility, visual or hearing impairments, or cognitive, such as developmental or learning differences. Interacting with these individuals can be an intimidating and new experience. You do not need any special expertise to help people with disabilities have a positive experience at WonderLab. Appendix H contains guidelines for interacting with these visitors or volunteers. When working with visitors or volunteers who have disabilities, you need to remember that for many, visiting, working, or volunteering is their second priority, belonging is their first.

Other Volunteer Opportunities

In addition to working with visitors, you may be asked to help with other volunteering roles:

- ❖ Help in the gift store. Welcome members and visitors; provide museum information; straighten shelves, stock items, etc. Minimum age: 18. Special training is required.
- Present Science-On-The-Spot activities (SOTS) in the gallery. (e.g., with live animals, on health and the human body, chemistry, etc.). Prior experience working in the museum with visitors, and for some SOTS activities, special training is required. Special training and practice are required for working with animals.
- ❖ Work at outreach events in Bloomington and nearby communities. Prior experience working in the museum with visitors and personal responsibility for transportation are required.
- Help with birthday parties. Set up the party room, prepare gift bags, greet guests, help with the science activity, and clean up after the party. Prior experience working with visitors in the museum and special training are required.
- Work behind the scenes. Help with mailings and other administrative projects.

If you wish to receive special training, please inform the volunteer department.

If you have other talents to share, just let us know. We will put you in touch with the appropriate member of our staff for follow up.

Scheduling and Attendance

Volunteer shifts for volunteers working in the exhibit areas are Currently but are subject to change:

Tuesday – Saturday:

- 9:15am 11:15am
- 11:00am 1:00pm
- 1:00pm 3:00pm
- 3:00pm 5:00pm

Sunday:

- 1:00pm 3:00pm
- 3:00pm 5:00pm

WonderLab is closed most Mondays.

Note: volunteers who complete training to work at the gift store, birthday parties, programs, and outreach events will set their schedules with the volunteer department.

Signing up to Volunteer

Most scheduling is done through volunteer portal at wonderlab.org

If you have any issues or questions about scheduling contact volunteer@wonderlab.org.

- You may cancel a shift or change shifts also through the volunteer portal.
- ❖ However, if you cancel or change a shift with less than 24 hours' notice please contact the volunteer manager to let them know as it will be hard to get that shift covered.
- ❖ Please do not come to volunteer if you are sick.
- Email: volunteer@wonderlab.org OR Call: 812-337-1337 ext. 221

Please plan to be at the museum for the entire shift. The starting time is when you need to be in the museum ready to help. Allow extra time for check-in. Please note that the front doors of WonderLab will not be unlocked until 9:00 am on Tuesday – Saturday and until 1:00 pm on Sunday.

Checking In and Out

- Enter through the front doors of the museum.
- > Check in at the visitor services desk.
- > Take the back stairs (or elevator) to the second-floor volunteer room.
- > Sign in on the iPad touch screen or (if not working) the clipboard located on the check-in table in the volunteer room. Enter volunteer pin number on the touch screen. This number will be next to your name on the daily volunteer assignment sheet.
- Wear a green WonderLab apron (located on hooks on the wall behind the door). The apron identifies you to museum visitors as someone working for WonderLab who can provide assistance.
- ➤ Find and wear your preprinted nametag. Alphabetical by first name in the box on the volunteer table in the breakroom. If you cannot find a nametag, please make a temporary one. This will help others in communicating with you. Nametag holders are hanging on the hooks with the aprons.
- > Check the volunteer assignment board (Above the iPad) and find the listing of your name and assigned area (e.g., floor 1, Climber).
- > If the floor manager does not meet you at the beginning of your shift in the volunteer room, report to your assigned area. The floor manager will check in with you as soon as possible.
- > During your shift, remember to inform the floor manager of any problems, if you need a break, if you will need to move your car during your shift, or if you need to leave early.
- At the end of your shift, tell the floor manager that you will be leaving.
- > Return the apron and nametag to the volunteer room.
- > Talk to volunteer staff about any ideas, concerns, or questions you may have.
- > Sign out on the touch screen.

Standards of Behavior and Appearance

WonderLab is proud of its building, its exhibits, its programs--and especially its staff and volunteers. Therefore, we ask that both employees and volunteers present a professional family-friendly image to the visitors and the community. You are representing WonderLab to the public and to groups of school children. See Appendix G for important guidelines.

- > Demonstrate friendliness, maturity, professionalism, positive attitude, and a sense of responsibility.
- > Wear your nametag and green apron so that the public and other staff can recognize and identify you.
- Wear clean, comfortable, closed toed shoes. Use your common sense when choosing your outfit for volunteering. Volunteering at WonderLab is an active job with bending over, and playing.
- > If you carry a cell phone, please do not use it to talk or text while volunteering. If you need to check your phone or make a call, please do so in the break room.
- Model appropriate behavior in the museum--children are watching you and listening to you!
- No WonderLab volunteer may accept personal gifts or tips for services rendered by him or her on behalf of WonderLab. Explain that you cannot accept the gift or tip and advise the visitor to contribute to the Connecting to the Community Fund gravity well by Sprouts Place, or the WonderLab donation box at the top of the front stairs.

Volunteer Benefits

- ❖ Volunteers receive a 20% discount to the gift store all year.
- We host several volunteer appreciation events each year which give volunteers a chance to meet each other, and bring their family and friends to WonderLab.
- ❖ We can give you a report of your volunteering hours at any time.
- ❖ We also supply letters of reference upon request to volunteers who have worked 30 or more hours. (Please give us a minimum of three weeks notice before these letters are needed.)
- Museum Rental Discount for WonderLab Volunteers: Active volunteers at WonderLab who have donated 100 hours or more in a calendar year qualify for a 15% off discount on museum rentals. The rental must occur during the 12-month period that follows, during which the individual remains an active volunteer. The volunteer is required to sign a rental contract and follow the current rental reservation policies.

These small benefits are a special "thank you" to volunteers.

Museum Rules

- * Running in the museum is prohibited. Safety is our primary concern.
- Smoking is not permitted.
- ❖ Eating is only allowed in the museum lobby and in three designated uncarpeted areas on the second floor (the volunteer room, vending area, learning labs). Eating and drinking are not permitted in the museum exhibit areas.
- Children younger than 12 years old must be accompanied and supervised by an adult or other responsible person, age 18 or older. WonderLab is not responsible for unsupervised children. WonderLab volunteers should not "babysit" a child who is left unattended by a caregiver (e.g., who is in the bathroom or who leaves the museum to get something from the car).

If the rules are forgotten, remind the visitor. A simple non-threatening comment usually will suffice (e.g., "Please walk." or "Use slow feet.")

Report any inappropriate behavior, unattended children, or other problems to the floor manager. If the floor manager is not nearby, then report this behavior to the visitor services desk (floor 1), to the volunteer department staff, or the administrative offices. Our staff is trained to handle such problems and can also contact the floor manager.

Emergency Procedures

In the event of any first aid, safety, or emergency, you should immediately inform the floor manager, who will take charge. If the floor manager is not in sight, then go to the visitor services desk (floor 1), the volunteer department staff or administrative offices (floor 2), whichever is closest. Specially trained staff members will take charge. Volunteers should not administer first aid.

- Familiarize yourself with the locations of exits, evacuation routes, and fire extinguishers. Evacuation maps are posted on each floor of the museum.
- Please read the guidelines for emergencies in the WonderLab Emergency Action Plan (EAP), which is in the volunteer/staff break room. You should be aware of these procedures, but you are not responsible for carrying them out.

APPENDIX A: USEFUL INFORMATION

WonderLab's Quick Facts

Mission

WonderLab's mission is to provide opportunities for people of all ages, especially children, to experience the wonder and excitement of science through hands-on exhibits, programs, and programs that stimulate curiosity, encourage exploration, foster lifelong learning, and explore the connections to the arts and everyday life. WonderLab strives to build curious and creative problem solvers inspired by wonder, who will shape a better future for southern Indiana and beyond.

Location

308 W. Fourth Street, Bloomington, Indiana 47404

Physical Description

Two-story, 15,000-square-foot building, with a 7,000-square-foot outdoor nature area.

Official Service Area

Bartholomew, Brown, Greene, Jackson, Lawrence, Martin, Monroe, Morgan, Orange, and Owen counties.

Professional Association

Member, Association of Science-Technology Centers (ASTC). WonderLab participates in the ASTC Passport Program, which provides reciprocal free admission for museum members at more than 250 other science museums around the world.

Organization

WonderLab is a private 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization.

Support

Main sources of income are earned revenue and contributions. WonderLab does not receive ongoing operational support from federal, state, or local tax monies. WonderLab's fund-raising sources include annual campaigns, membership drives, special events, grants, and interest income.

Additional Museum Information

Birthday Parties

For a fee, people of all ages may have their birthday party at WonderLab, which includes admission to the museum, use of a private room, and a special WonderLab activity led by a staff member or volunteer. For more information or to schedule a birthday party, call (812) 337-1337, ext. 11. Flyers are located on the first floor on the wall near the drinking fountains. Info on website also has not been updated. I just need extension and email for Morgan.

Contributions to WonderLab

As a private, nonprofit organization, WonderLab relies on admissions, other earned revenue, donations, and grants to operate. If someone is interested in contributing to WonderLab, please escort him/her to the visitor services desk.

Diaper Changing Stations

All restrooms have a diaper changing station.

First Aid Kits

First aid and bodily fluid kits are located in four areas of the museum, including the visitor services desk on the first floor and the administrative offices on the second floor. If first aid is needed, immediately inform the floor manager (wearing a blue apron) who will take charge. If the floor manager is not in sight, then go to the visitor services desk (floor 1), volunteer staff, or administrative office (floor 2), whichever is closest.

Gift Store

The gift store contains many interesting items ranging from \$0.25 to \$200. Purchases by cash or check are accepted. MasterCard, Visa and Discover are the only credit cards accepted.

Lost and Found

Lost and found items are kept on the first shelf on the right in the coat closet.

Memberships

Visitors and volunteers may purchase memberships at the visitor services desk. Flyers on memberships are also located at the visitor services desk or more information can be found at www.wonderlab.org.

School, Group Visits, or Museum Rentals

For more information, or to schedule a rental please contact Laura Atchison at laura@wonderlab.org or 812-337-1337 ext. 219.

Outreach Visits

WonderLab can bring its outreach program to schools and other locations typically within a one-hour drive from WonderLab. For more information and to receive the most recent fee schedule, advise visitors to call (812) 337-1337, ext. 18.

Car and Bike Parking

Parking downtown when volunteering at WonderLab can be challenging.

For the most up-to-date information about parking downtown, please check the WonderLab website: wonderlab.org > Plan Your Visit > Parking.

You can also find information at the City of Bloomington's website: bloomington.in.gov/transportation/parking/downtown.

There is also a bike rack in front of WonderLab, on the west corner of the building, on 4th Street.

Street parking is free west of Rogers, and south of 3rd.

Public Transportation

The BT fee is \$1.00 in exact change for adults, \$.50 for citizens 60 years and older and youths (grades K-12) with a reduced rate ID acquired beforehand, transfers are free. IU students have prepaid access on all BT routes by using their student ID cards as a pass. The downtown terminal (where all BT routes go) is located at the corner of 3rd and Walnut. WonderLab is about 3 blocks from the bus terminal. For more information and exact route information, call BT at (812) 336-RIDE (7433), or visit **www.bloomingtontransit.com.**

Restrooms

The multi-stall restrooms are located on the first floor of the building, and a single stall on the second floor across from the learning labs. Inform the floor manager when the bathroom needs attention (e.g., plumbing problem, lack of paper, etc.).

Telephones

A telephone is located at the admission desk. Volunteers may also makef brief, local calls at the Volunteer manager's desk.

Vending Machines

Vending machines (soda and snacks) are located on the second floor, across from the learning labs. Please keep food and drink on the tiled area.

Volunteer Room

The volunteer/staff break room is located on the second floor near the back stairs. The room features water, snacks, a refrigerator, toaster oven, and a microwave oven. Let the floor manager know if you need to take a short break. You may use the refrigerator if you wish, but make sure that you properly label and take the item home with you at the end of the day. You are welcome to use the cups and utensils, but please wash anything you use before you leave. Take a moment to look at the bulletin board. It is devoted to volunteer news.

APPENDIX B: Volunteer JOB DESCRIPTION

Assignment: Volunteer Gallery Floor

Supervisor: Floor Manager

Time Commitment: flexible, shifts range from 2 – 3 hours

Work Site: museum gallery

Job Summary: ensure that every visitor has a safe and enjoyable experience in the museum.

Responsibilities:

Watch for safety and security situations.

- Act as a visible representative of the museum by interacting appropriately with visitors and supporting a welcoming environment.
- Encourage visitors to explore and experiment with the exhibits.
- Become knowledgeable about the exhibits and underlying science.

Qualifications: friendly, dependable, positive attitude, curious about science, comfortable working with children and adults, often in a loud environment; able to work well in a team environment

Training: one 1.5-hour session with opportunities for additional content and interpretive training.

APPENDIX C: WONDERLAB'S CUSTOMER SERVICE VALUES

In order of priority:

1. Safety

- > watch for unsafe situations you are the extra eyes and ears
- ▶ be alert facing visitors
- > help sanitize surfaces at the end of day
- > pick up items on the floor that are a tripping hazard

2. Courtesy

- > smile
- > make eye contact
- > greet visitors "Welcome to WonderLab"
- > be friendly & approachable
- > anticipate visitor needs
- if visitors ask where something is (example, vending area or restroom), walk them to their destination if possible; never enter the restroom with a visitor

3. Appearance

- wear nametag and apron
- > make the museum a welcoming place
- > check restrooms and report to floor manager if they need attention
- > keep moving where needed, no "clumping" with other volunteers
- > show visitors you are ready to help; no sitting with back to visitors
- > use appropriate nonverbal communication (refer to Appendix D)
- if asked a question and you don't know the answer, say "I don't know, but I'll find out;" then find the floor manager
- > tidy the gallery and reset exhibits; pick up blocks, etc.

4. Playful Discovery

- send signals "this is cool"
- > create an atmosphere of play
- > learn when to step in, when to stand back
- > encourage creative use of exhibits, unless it could cause injury to body, building or exhibit

APPENDIX D: NONVERBAL COMMUNICATION

You never get a second chance to make a first impression.

- Communication is 70% nonverbal, 23% tone of voice, and 7% verbal.
- Appropriate nonverbal behavior tells visitors that you are ready to help them.
- Inappropriate nonverbal behavior can sabotage our visitor's first impression and cause them to complain about our service.

The behavior in *italics* (below) will make a good impression on visitors. This is the behavior we expect from all volunteers.

Expected Behavior	Unexpected Behavior
Smile, look pleasant & alert all the time! Think Disney Worldyou are on stage!	Not smiling, scowling or frowningmakes visitors feel they cannot approach you with a question.
Look all visitors in the eyes and smile!shows you are ready to help them.	Avoiding eye contact with visitors or talking or texting on your cell phoneindicates that you do not want to help them.
Greet the visitors. Say "Hi" or "Welcome to WonderLab."	Not greeting visitors at allmakes visitors feel unwelcome.
Keep moving & busy <u>all</u> the time!shows visitors that you are doing your job.	Standing still for a long time or "clumping" with other volunteersmay cause complaints about your job.
Stand or sit up straight!shows visitors that you are ready to help.	Slouching or leaningindicates that you are inattentive and bored.
Stand with arms down or behind the backshows you are ready to help.	Standing with arms crossed or hands in pant or apron pocketsindicates you are not willing to listen or help.

Expected Behavior

Face the room (when sitting or standing). If playing with an exhibit, look up toward the room every few minutes.

Speak with a calm, caring, soothing tone. ...shows you are competent and able to help.

Get down to child's level. Stoop or squat to get eye-to-eye with child or visitor in wheelchair.

Give visitors the right amount of personal space.

- Keep an "arm's length" distance when talking to visitors.
- Keep interactions brief.

Unexpected Behavior

Facing the wall ...indicates that you are doing your own thing and do not want to be interrupted. Do not get so involved with your own exploration that you do not look up to see if a visitor has a question, or needs your help, or if a situation is unsafe.

Sighing and speaking quickly ...indicates you are annoyed or impatient.

Standing upright, looking down at a child ...makes the child feel small and may be threatening..

Hovering or standing too close to visitors ...may make them feel uncomfortable

APPENDIX E: GUIDELINES for MESSING AROUND WITH SCIENCE

WonderLab is full of exciting exhibits and activities that encourage experimentation. The museum is designed for visitors to go through on their own, but gallery staff and volunteers provide the personal connection to the exhibits that makes WonderLab such a special place.

You do not need to know a lot about science to be a great WonderLab volunteer. All you need is a curiosity about science, a positive attitude, an interest in learning, and a willingness to work with people. You will have many opportunities for on-the-job training.

- 1. **Encourage an Atmosphere of Play** Science includes messing around with "stuff" and not being afraid to make mistakes.
 - Present a positive attitude. Be friendly, attentive, excited, and accessible. Represent WonderLab as a place that values curiosity and encourages playful experimentation.
 - Experiment for yourself. Get involved with the exhibits, try new things, and work on developing new skills.
 - Remember, it's not about having all the answers. It's about testing, observing, and discussing ideas and possible conclusions.
- 2. **Facilitate Discovery** Enrich the visitor's learning experience.
 - Ask questions that encourage further exploration. Use an inquiry approach, with questions that visitors can answer with an observation or experiment rather than vague "why" or "how" questions that shut down exploration.
 - Suggest exhibit challenges to assist visitors in their inquiry.
 - Communication the sharing of ideas is an important part of science. Be a thoughtful observer, a good listener, and build an engaging dialogue.
- 3. **Make it Relevant** It all boils down to science. Science is used to explain the world around us.
 - Make a connection between the activity/exhibit, and the real world of the visitor's personal experience.
 - Help visitors develop an appreciation for science as a tool that helps us understand the world around us.
 - Be supportive and help visitors build their confidence as self- directed learners.

APPENDIX F: GUIDELINES FOR INTERACTING WITH PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

- Remember that a person with a disability does not necessarily need help. If you see a situation where you think you might be able to be of assistance, ask. Do not, however, insist that the person accept your offer.
- > If an individual requests your assistance or accepts your offer of assistance, ask him or her how you can best be of help. Then, assist the person with a minimum amount of attention.
- > Circumstances influence a person's needs and necessary accommodations. Not only do an individual's needs change by circumstance, but people with the same disability may have different needs or different methods of getting the same needs met.
- ➤ When speaking to a person with a disability, speak directly to that person and not to a companion who may be present (nor to the interpreter if the person is deaf).
- > Talk to adults with disabilities in an age-appropriate and socially acceptable manner. Do not speak to people with disabilities as if they were children, and do not immediately put yourself on a first-name level of relationship.
- ➤ People with disabilities may have difficulty expressing their ideas. Wait for the person to finish his or her thought. Do not interrupt or finish thoughts for others. Never pretend to understand someone when you do not. Instead, ask the person to repeat what he or she said and check your understanding by telling the person what you heard.
- Let the person with the disability set the pace for walking.
- ➤ Relax. Do not be embarrassed if you use an expression that seems to be related to a person's disability, such as "See you later," or "I have to run along now." These expressions are common and are used by people with disabilities as well.
- > A person's disability and/or functional limitations caused by his or her disability should be held in strictest confidence.

Source: Training Tough Topics, by Margaret Gilbride. Indiana Institute on Disability and Community

APPENDIX G: STANDARDS OF BEHAVIOR

The following are strictly prohibited when acting on behalf of WonderLab:

- Possession or use of alcohol, tobacco and or illegal drugs (or be under the influence thereof)
- Bringing onto WonderLab property dangerous or unauthorized materials such as explosives, firearms, weapons, or other similar items
 - Use of abusive, obscene, and discriminatory language
 - Direct personal attack or harassment (visual, verbal, or physical) on another person
 - Use of inappropriate language/humor
 - Discourtesy or rudeness to a visitor, staff member or volunteer.
- Inappropriate touching of a visitor, staff member or volunteer. (See guidelines that follow for physical contact.)

Any volunteer who violates this code is subject to discipline, up to and including removal from the volunteer program. For clarification or for guidance on behaviors not addressed here, please contact Director of Museum Experience or the Volunteer Manager.

Physical Contact

Be aware that even well intentioned physical contact may be misconstrued by the child, an observer, or by anyone to whom this action is described.

The following types of interactions **may be appropriate** between museum volunteers and children while on WonderLab premises or conducting WonderLab business. All museum volunteers should take the lead from the child and the child's caregiver as to what is appropriate and know that asking first is always the best course of action. Ask, "May I give you a high-five".

- pats on the shoulder
- "high fives" and hand slapping
- verbal praise
- arms around shoulders
- holding hands while walking with young (pre-K) children if they initiate it
- sitting beside small children
- kneeling or bending down with young (pre-K) children
- reciprocation of appropriate gestures initiated by a child (waving, thumbs-up)

The following types of interaction are **not to be used** by WonderLab volunteers when interacting with children or with other volunteers while on WonderLab premises or conducting WonderLab business:

- inappropriate or lengthy embraces
- kissing
- holding children on the lap
- touching buttocks, chests or genital areas
- touching the knees or legs
- tickling
- wrestling and/or roughhousing
- giving piggyback rides
- picking up
- giving or receiving a massage.

- initiating or receiving any form of unwanted affection
- expressing compliments that relate to physique or body development
- entering the restroom with a visitor

If anything happens that you believe may put you at risk of accusation by anyone, please do not keep this a secret. The floor manager should be informed, and appropriate action (if deemed necessary) will be discussed with you.

Progressive Disciplinary Policy

All volunteers are on a probationary period for three shifts. During this time, the floor manager gives the volunteer additional training and coaching on how to interact with visitors, staff and with other volunteers. If a volunteer does not behave according to the standards of behavior described here, WonderLab will follow a progressive disciplinary process with these steps, in order:

- Coaching
- Verbal Warning
- Written Warning
- Final Warning and Suspension
- Recommendation of Termination

All steps will be documented in writing and volunteers will receive a copy.

Some behavior, especially illegal activity, is not subject to a progressive discipline and may be reported to local law enforcement.

Appeal Process

Volunteers will have the opportunity to present information that may challenge management's use of disciplinary action to WonderLab's executive director.

By my signature on the WonderLab Volunteer Application Form, I acknowledge that I have read and agree to abide by the guidelines in this document.